
        
            
                
            
        


		
			Advance Praise for 
Blood Is Thicker than War

			“Martin King, once again, has crafted a masterful historical work studying some of the most compelling human stories…families fighting and surviving the horrors of war. Across the ocean of time, fathers and sons, daughters and mothers, families have been severely tested in their heroic efforts to win. This collection of stories is being lived out today in Ukraine and as such, you have to add this to your library today. I met Martin in early 2019 when we both spoke at a military historical event in Las Vegas, a mere week or less before the United States began to restrict activities in response to the growing COVID-19 pandemic. Martin is a keen studier of war and an incredible storyteller, especially those stories that have had profound impacts on the lives of others, and the conflicting often devastating results. These are stories worth telling and Martin King does exactly that in this newest historical work. 

			–Robert G. Novotny, Brig Gen (ret), USAF

			“War is a very personal endeavor. Servicemembers form inexplicable bonds as they prepare for battle and fight alongside each other. These bonds, or more appropriately stated, love, lives on, far beyond the battlefield. It is proper then, that the story of war be told through the stories of the people who experienced it. Nobody tells the story of war better than Martin King. Let Martin take you on a journey of combat through the stories of brothers, sisters, and families to experience one of life’s greatest crucibles. Blood is indeed thicker than war.”

			 -Robert Campbell Colonel, U. S. Army, 101st Airborne. (Ret)

			“Martin is a master storyteller. His intensive research and unique writing style enable one to visualize the scenes and sense the emotion. Braided rope, like brother and sisterhood, is strong, but occasionally ideology snaps even the strongest bonds.”

			–Brigadier General (ret) Gregory J. Ihde, USAF

			“Martin King, once again, has crafted a masterful historical work studying some of the most compelling human stories…families fighting and surviving the horrors of war. Across the ocean of time, fathers and sons, daughters and mothers, families tested and their heroic efforts to win.  This collection of stories is being lived out today in Ukraine and as such, you have to add this to your library today.”

			–Brigadier General Robert G Novotny (ret) USAF

			“...a story which needed to be told... definitely a volume worth reading as we look to gain all of the information possible before the primary source of the Greatest Generation is gone.” 

			–The Journal of America’s Military Past

			“An absolutely essential and core addition to personal, professional, community, college, and university history collections, Blood is thicker than war is an inherently absorbing read from cover to cover.”

			–Midwest Book Review

			“Martins ability to tie family allegiances in key historical battles over hundreds of years is unprecedented and noteworthy. Martin shows how families, regardless of their individual beliefs, rivalries, or allegiances, were critical in some of history’s most pivoting and defining military engagements. Weather it was brother against brother on the bloody fields of the American Civil War, or sister working with sister fighting together under a common belief to stop the Nazis, Martin weaves the stories in such a way that it allows you to feel what they felt, whether it was the sorrow over the loss of a sibling, or the happiness and completion of reconciling with a brother who fought, just yards from you, against you and everything you were fighting for. Wars may be fought by individuals and units, but ultimately most everyone participating comes from a family that worried and grieved, or celebrated their accomplishments. This book will help you understand the emotions and critical roles that the families of those involved.” 

			–Arthur “Art” Gordon, MAJ. US. ARMY, 1988-2015

			“I’ve studied history for many years and I’m an author of two books myself. Martin covers the often-missed aspect of war, the personal aspect. I feel his is a much-needed reminder that wars are not fought by tanks, trucks, and artillery; they are fought by people.”

			 –Robert R. Allen, MSGT USAF Retired

			“Compelling! King mixes archival evidence with biography and history to take you into how the lives of families are affected by war… siblings fighting side by side.”

			 –Mr. Randy Garcia President ICC The Investment Company Las Vegas

			“As a Combat Veteran who thrives on remembering history, I enjoy a good read, rather than spending time reading the news, or spending hours on Facebook. I find Martin’s work, honest and factual. He has the ability quite early on, to grab a person’s attention and hold onto it, not just in the beginning, but also throughout the entire book. This is what I think most people are looking for when they read and purchase books. Regardless of the content of the book or the subject matter, how you portray your work and naturally flow from one chapter to the next is not something easily done, yet you seem to do this with ease. No doubt your experience in writing is obviously clear and evident in your style of writing. It takes creativity, imagination, and inspiration to perfect the writing skills to achieve this, and Martin does this time and time again. To be able to grab a person’s attention, and hold onto it throughout the duration is a gift, and clearly this is what makes reading Martin’s your books so enjoyable. So not only do we get a history lesson, but we crave for more as we dander through the pages. So in closing I just want to say, I tip my hat to you sir, and wish you a grand day. I will be looking forward to reading the full content of your newest edition when it arrives.” 

			–Mark Chernek United States Marine Corps
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FOREWORD

			Martin King is a prolific writer of military history with an unrivaled breadth of knowledge and passion for his subject matter. His latest literary effort tackles the stories of siblings in conflict throughout history, at times even on different sides on the same battlefield. After reading a few excerpts, I’ve become even more intrigued by this subject matter, in part through personal experience. I had the privilege of commissioning my daughter into the United States Air Force and now, as a retired Air Force officer, have the good fortune of teaching at the same overseas location where my daughter is stationed. Like many of the themes in Martin’s book, I’ve experienced firsthand the strengthening of the bonds between my daughter and I through shared experiences so unique to military life. I’m honored that a historian of Martin’s caliber gave me a peek at his latest book and I eagerly await the opportunity to read the final product.

			Douglas L. Haven, Lt Col, USAF (Retired)





INTRODUCTION

			Through my previous books, my research, and family connections, I have a personal connection to many of the stories included in this volume. Countless popular TV series have honed in on dysfunctional families and successfully used these as their baseline: Vikings, The White Queen, and Game of Thrones, to name but a few. They have enthralled viewers around the world with the disagreements and machinations of family members jockeying for power, but these shows are amateurs compared to history’s real brothers and sisters. So no matter how pressing, distracting, or annoying your family’s problems are, there are some families here that have experienced far worse.

			With this volume, I am not presuming to present the definitive scholarly work on siblings in conflict since the beginning of humankind. But through these selected stories, I hope to present thought-provoking, heartfelt, anecdotal human interest, and social history that weaves familiar themes of loyalty, love, heartbreak, and heroism among close relatives.

			In most cases, families have a history—stories about sibling rivalry or sibling affection. They’re usually happy to impart the tales, depending on the circumstances, but others prefer to keep the skeletons well and truly locked away in a quiet part of the house. When siblings are mentioned in the context of war, the image it inspires is one of bonding, embedded in the ideal of esprit de corps. The privilege of comradeship through the overarching figurative use of the word “brotherhood” has overshadowed the presence and significance of real sibling bonds. Fraternal or sororal bonds have been largely ignored as a subject of historical analysis.

			Siblinghood in wartime is the primary focus of this volume, which hones in on family bonds and exposes a completely different family dynamic. Insufficient attention has been paid to fondness or love in family relationships during conflict. Despite this, as you will discover, fraternal and sororal stories are indubitably embedded throughout the history of war narratives.

			During World War II, the Special Operations Executive (SOE) agents served with distinction. Back in September 2010, police were called to a small, untidy flat in Torquay. They discovered a corpse, whose only reputation with the locals was based solely on her deep affection for cats. When they looked around the “cat lady’s” place, they found a small bundle of possessions that revealed a truly incredibly story of two remarkable sisters that were on the same side.

			The Wars of the Roses, the English Civil War, and the American Civil War also literally pitted brother against brother.

			During the Wars of the Roses, the last members of the notorious Plantagenet dynasty perpetrated a destructive chain of rebellion, revenge, usurpation, and regicide, which mostly originated within the house of York. At the core of this incomparable act of regal self-destruction was the mutually disparaging relationship between three brothers, who were all initially on the same side but harbored entirely different aspirations.





PREFACE

			The names Cain and Abel, Romulus and Remus, King Richard and King John are familiar to most of us. The inspiration for this volume came from my own granddad who fought in World War I along with three of his brothers. Four went to war, but only one made it home alive. I have a brother one year younger than myself. His real name is Graham, but I think he prefers his nickname “Joe,” after granddad Joe—who, although we didn’t know him personally, is a legend in my family. In this volume you will find out why.

			While the first chapters are based on extensive research, the latter chapters are extracted from interviews with war veterans whom I have always venerated.

			As a boy I was both enthralled and inspired by the anecdotes of a select group of dear old World War I survivors who used to congregate on two park benches at the edge of the estate where I lived. One of these men claimed to have served with my granddad; he’d known and had even worked with him and his three brothers back in the day. Apparently granddad had the exemplary distinction of being a menace to both sides during World War I. I still have cassette recordings of some of those interviews, but I needed to know more.

			These days it’s a commonly used—in fact overused—form of address when referring to revered friends as “he’s my brother” or “she’s my sister.” But this surrogate appropriation often leaves me cold because it detracts from the real brothers and real sisters who fought side by side, and in some cases on opposite sides during times of real conflict and real hardship.

			But what of the heartbroken mothers, fathers, and other relatives they left behind? One mother who appears in this volume waved goodbye to no less than ten sons aged between eighteen and thirty-seven, all of whom were dispatched to the frontline in the World War I. She must have been overcome with pure dread at the prospect of all her boys going to war. They remain the biggest real “band of brothers” that ever served their country, but to discover how many made it back and who this dear lady was you will have to read the rest.

			History is inundated with stories of love, hate, jealousy, and revenge between brothers, sisters, and families. But it isn’t all misery and tragedy—far from it. It will look at the intricacies of some of these domestic relationships and explore the willingness and, in some cases, reluctance to sacrifice all for honor and glory. It will also hopefully reveal the true stories of those real brothers and real sisters who went to war or found themselves victims of it.





PART ONE:

			Destiny and dilemma.





CHAPTER ONE:

			GRANDAD AND THE LADS.

			If you will allow me one small indulgence, I would like to relate part of the first story in the first person. While many, such as my granddad and his brothers, were swept up by the veritable tsunami of patriotism and jingoism that triggered their lively hormones in 1914 (inducing them to join the British Army), others were conscripted.

			Granddad and his brothers were all working in reserved occupations, industries considered vital to the war effort and were consequently exempt from having to join the army. But like the countless hundreds of thousands who rallied to the call to arms, they all took the king’s shilling when it was offered and signed up to His Majesty’s armed forces. They wanted adventure, glory, and a chance to fight for their country—but they all got much more than they had bargained for.

			Four brothers went to war in 1914. Two would return, but only one would get back alive. In the summer of 1917, British and the Commonwealth forces massed behind the salient in Ypres, Belgium. Headquarters (HQ) was resolute at the prospect of forcing a breach on the inundated Flanders front. Their goal was to break through the horseshoe-shaped Ypres Salient and capture the German submarine ports of Ostend and Zeebrugge.

			 

			Before this could be achieved, it would first be necessary to take or, if need be, eradicate the Messines Ridge to the south of Ypres. Commencing in 1916, the British devised an ambitious plan to tunnel underneath the whole salient and detonate deep mines. During the preparatory artillery bombardments, more than 4,200,000 projectiles were fired at the German positions. British General Charles Harington uttered, “Gentlemen, we may not make history tomorrow, but we shall certainly change the geography.”1 Meanwhile, tunneling units beneath German lines were preparing to detonate one of the largest non-nuclear explosions of all time.
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			In the early morning on June 7, 1917, at 4:10 a.m. local time, nineteen of the twenty-four mines containing over 1.2 million pounds detonated almost simultaneously. It was the largest explosion ever caused by humans up to that juncture. It completely annihilated the enemy positions and created huge craters in the landscape, some of which can still be seen today.

			 

			Belgian Chaplain Achiel Van Walleghem described zero hour in his revered war diary, “It was just 4 am and the first daylight was beginning to glimmer, when I suddenly saw the most gigantic and at the same time the most hideously magnificent firework display that had ever been detonated in Flanders, a veritable volcano, it was as if the entire south-east was belching fire. A few seconds passed before we felt the shocks. That was a veritable earthquake that lasted at least a minute. Oh, if it wasn’t men being slaughtered, you would call it beautiful.”2

			The impact was so powerful that one reinforced concrete German bunker was actually blown completely upside down. The mines were even heard by British Prime Minister David Lloyd George, who was working late in his Downing Street study when the teacups rattled. The surprise was absolute and the ensuing impact was so devastating that it caused panic and chaos among the ranks of the German army. It was said that the devastation literally obliterated all those who were manning front line enemy positions immediately above the mines. In most cases, fragments of bone no bigger than a fingernail were all that remained of them. In the ensuing fight, the British, Irish, Australian, and New Zealand units succeeded in taking the Messines Ridge, but as with fruitless attacks before, it was an all too brief hiatus.3

			Lieutenant J. Todd of the Eleventh Battalion, Prince of Wales’s Own Yorkshire Regiment, wrote, “It was an appalling moment. We all had the feeling ‘It’s not going!’ And then a most remarkable thing happened. The ground on which I was lying started to go up and down just like an earthquake. It lasted for seconds and then, suddenly in front of us, the Hill 60 mine went up.”4

			My granddad was there with one of his brothers. Early in the war, they raised so much hell that they were consequently assigned to different regiments. Apparently Grandad’s brother Private John Pumford, service number 1086, was the first to be killed on May 24, 1915, when the Germans released a withering chlorine gas attack during the second battle of Ypres. He was nineteen years old.

			The second one to lose his life was my great uncle George Pumford, service number 49244. He was the eldest at thirty-seven years old. The precise circumstances of his death aren’t clear because there were no major offensives occurring at the time, so his unfortunate demise was probably due to either gas or shrapnel. He was killed on January 22, 1917. I think that he was close to granddad Joseph Henry Pumford because Granddad would later name his first-born son George. Brother William became a sergeant and survived the war but after getting a “blighty one” (a wound bad enough to get one sent back to the UK), he died tragically of an ear infection while on the boat returning home. Bacteriology was unfortunately still in its infancy.

			Their first cousin, James Henry Pumford (Rifleman 7714), was killed at the Battle of the Somme and is mentioned on the Thiepval Memorial. He was just eighteen years old. His remains were never recovered. When I decided to visit the memorial with my wife about twenty years ago, I had a peculiar experience. I had never visited it before, but despite this, I immediately picked out his name from the 72,000 mentioned on the monument. I didn’t have to search for it—I just walked straight up to the panel and there he was.

			While researching Granddad’s records, I noticed that he had two serial numbers below his name: 4829 and 202084. This wasn’t unusual for those soldiers who were transferred from one regiment to another, but this wasn’t the case with Granddad Joe. I discovered that he had been promoted to the rank of corporal and then subsequently demoted back to private for punching out a sergeant while on duty. I’ve often wondered if the sergeant was his brother William, but this has never been ascertained. Either way he sounded like one of my lot: punch first and ask questions or make apologies later.

			Mother always told me, “Your Granddad Joe had a wicked temper and he was a stubborn old bugger.” That was more or less all I knew about the man when I began searching. Because although I’ve met and interviewed innumerable veterans over the years, I never actually knew my granddad. Like many survivors of World War I, he hardly ever spoke to anyone about his personal experiences and seldom, if ever, attended veteran reunions.

			Standing at only five feet two inches, he was a diminutive Geordie miner who only opened his mouth to drink, feed, curse, and occasionally wedge a hand-rolled cigarette between his dry, thin lips. By all accounts, he could play a mouth organ, was always clean-shaven, wore a shirt and tie every Sunday, and always had a few bottles of Newcastle Brown Ale after his Sunday dinner. The only other detail mother could provide was that when she knew him, he never slept in a proper bed. He preferred the floor in front of the open hearth and once mentioned something about Passchendaele to her—with a vague inebriated reference to Hill 60—but she couldn’t remember all the details.

			She advised me to ask my Uncle George, who apparently knew him better than any of us. Granddad Joe had served his country with distinction in Flanders Fields and had paid a heavy price, sustaining respiratory damage that afflicted the rest of his life. The Third Battle of Ypres culminated in the deaths of 325,000 Allied soldiers and 260,000 German soldiers.
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			Uncle George said, “God forbid if he heard you break wind in close proximity.” By all accounts, this voluntary or involuntary digestive reaction could send him into paroxysms of rage, which could reduce grown men to quivering heaps. I deduced from this that he could have used some serious behavior counseling, but there was a lot more to it than that, and I had to find out.

			I have had the honor of meeting countless war veterans over the years and in my humble estimation, here was a man who was very obviously suffering from what we describe today as post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), but such things were rarely mentioned in those days. He had spent more than three years of his young life in the trenches on the Western front surrounded by dismembered and decomposing corpses. Of course he couldn’t stand bad smells because they invoked too many painful memories. In most respects, he was no different from any other soldier who served in World War I. Confined in filth and squalor with the omnipresent prospect of imminent death, it’s surprising that more of them didn’t succumb to shell shock and battle fatigue. The despised British military hierarchy at the time referred to such debilitating afflictions in writing with the sinister acronym LMF (lack of moral fiber). It didn’t get much more insensitive than that.

			The only other thing I heard about Granddad was from an ex-miner colleague. He told that me when Britain declared war on Germany in 1939, my granddad stood at the front door of his terrace house with a personally requisitioned Lee-Enfield rifle and shouted, “Come on Hitler, I’m ready for ye yer bastard!”

			Joseph Henry Pumford joined the British army in 1914, just one of the many who answered Lord Kitchener’s call to arms. The year previous he and his three brothers had moved south from Durham to work in the Yorkshire coalfields. Coal mining was a “reserved occupation.” They didn’t have to go, but they probably considered soldiering to be less precarious than coal mining. It wasn’t entirely wrong because this occupation had a particularly high mortality rate at the time.

			Granddad Joe was a coal miner—a “shot firer” like my father had been. This was the job description given to those who extended the tunnels with dynamite on the coalface. In retrospect, the most natural evolution would have been for him to join one of the ubiquitous tunneling companies of the royal engineers. That would have been a logical choice, but I gather that he had enough of “being down there” and decided that the infantry would be his best option; however, joining the army’s disciplined ranks was, in hindsight, not really a good option for someone who was independent-minded and quite assertive. According to one of the retired servicemen that used to gather on those park benches, “Your Granddad Joe was a good lad, but he didn’t like any bugger telling him what to do,” which isn’t particularly conducive to soldiering.

			On July 12, 1917, the Germans used mustard gas against the British for the first time. This was a bad start for the Allied bombardment that commenced four days later in preparation for a new offensive around Ypres. The battle of Messines had been relatively successful, but the ensuing delay before launching a consecutive offensive took too long. Granddad Joe was gassed on July 23 and transferred to a military hospital in Amiens. Meanwhile his brother, William, remained on active duty at the Ypres front.

			 

			[image: ]

			Granddad Joe recovered and returned to Ypres to participate in the ongoing third Ypres offensive. It would conclude with the battle of Passchendaele, where he was present at the assault of October 4, 1917. As the King’s Own Yorkshire Light Infantry (KOYLI) advanced, he got a piece of shrapnel in his shoulder that effectively ended his career in the army.

			He obviously survived the war (otherwise I wouldn’t be alive) and returned to his former job at the coal mine. Granddad was a heavy smoker; he died in 1953 of emphysema. This was no doubt compounded by the damage he had incurred to his lungs from the mustard gas and coal dust.

			I’d like to end this chapter on a slightly brighter note. In 1998, I took my then twelve-year-old daughter Allycia to see the Queen and meet a man who was one of the last surviving veterans of Passchendaele. It was a dank, overcast, squally November morning in Ypres when I zeroed in on a 101-year-old World War I veteran comfortably ensconced in a wheelchair and protected from the driving rain beneath the Menin Gate Memorial.

			His oversized jacket was sagging beneath his shoulders by the sheer weight of the medals, ribbons, and various other decorations pinned to it. I watched him for a little while, then tenuously approached and extended my hand to shake his.

			“Hullo young man, what can I do for you?” he said looking up at me. Even though his marbled, old, blue eyes were glazed and reddened, they were alert, alive, and genuinely inquisitive.

			“Who are you then lad?” he asked, putting his head slightly to one side as he awaited my response.

			“Oh, I’m just an admirer who is deeply honored to meet a veteran such as yourself.” I told him that my own granddad had fought at Ypres and had been wounded here.

			“Aye lad, it was messy, very messy.”

			This was the kind of understatement that I’d become used to from northern British and Scottish war veterans over the years. “Messy” was the only appropriate adjective that he could produce to describe the unimaginable horrors that he had witnessed.

			The arch above us contained the names of 54,896 officers and men from the British and Commonwealth forces that fell in the Ypres Salient before August 16, 1917; they had no known grave. They’d drowned in the mud or been blown to pieces. “Messy” said more than enough as far as I was concerned, but the old man added, “And do you know what young man? I still fucking hate the Germans.”

			I was living near Antwerp at the time, and I couldn’t thank him enough for that parting statement because my daughter repeated it all the way home. By the time we arrived there it had evolved into a complete song with a sing-along karaoke chorus. She never went with me to meet veterans again. My dear wife, who imposed the lifetime ban on my daughter accompanying me to veteran memorials, asked if I could include a story of the Plantagenet’s in this volume. I agreed only on the condition that I could tell my granddad’s story first.

			 

			I never personally knew my granddad, or any of my great uncles for that matter, but I grew up hearing the name Passchendaele in my house. At the time, I had no idea of the significance of this name to my family or to history. Many years later, I traced granddad’s footsteps from Etaples to Passchendaele and laid a wreath to my clan at the Menin Gate Memorial, where they still blow the Last Post bugle call every evening at 2000h as a mark of respect to the fallen.





CHAPTER TWO:

			THE SONS OF RAGNAR WHO?

			The well-known History Channel TV series Vikings took some serious liberties with actual history for the purposes of indulging popular fantasy; however, that doesn’t detract from the fact that it introduced untold millions to the exploits of the notorious Vikings. Incidentally, the helmets worn by the so-called Saxon army in the Vikings series are exactly the same as those that Stannis’ men wore in Game of Thrones. Strange, maybe they were the only helmets available from the props department when they were filming? This detail isn’t very historical, though, and to those in the know, it’s painfully inaccurate. Saxons simply didn’t wear those kinds of helmets, which were more reminiscent of those worn by the Spanish conquistadors some five centuries later. At least none of the Vikings in the TV series had horns or wings on their helmets, which is a relief of sorts.

			It’s relatively safe to assume that Ragnar Lothbrok or Lodbrok existed. Two verifiable references of a particularly renowned Viking raider in 840 CE named Ragnall, also known as Reginherus, appear in the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle, which is considered to be a generally reliable source. His story was also related by the skalds of Iceland (a Scandinavian chronicle of the Viking age), 350 years after the supposed death of this most elusive of heroes. It is, however, equally possible that the Ragnar often referred to in the testosterone-fueled Viking sagas may be a composite based on more than one actual person.
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			Bearing in mind that they all had anger management issues, it’s entirely possible that the Ragnar often referred to in the Viking Sagas may be a composite based on more than one actual person.

			For many, he is regarded as the first real Viking personage to emerge from the vague accounts of the period. In The Saga of Ragnar Lothbrok it reads, “Sigurd had a son named Ragnar, who was a large man, fair of countenance and keen in wit, great-hearted toward his men but grim to his foes.”5 This is how the erstwhile ninth-century Viking monarch and sometime dragon-slayer Ragnar Lothbrok is introduced to his audience. By all accounts, the real Ragnar was a fearsome Viking warlord and chieftain who was the scourge of England and France. Despite the fact that there is so much ambiguity surrounding the legend of Ragnar, it still provided sufficient fuel to the TV series makers to play around with the details as they saw fit without the need for any official disclaimer. So what about his notorious sons?

			One particularly confusing aspect of the story are the multiple sources, which confirm the existence of figures that are recorded as having been either the sons of Ragnar or the sons of Lothbrok, Lagertha, and Aslaug Sigurdsdottir. But nowhere in antiquity are any of the figures referred to here as having been the actual sons of Ragnar Lothbrok. The name “Lothbrok” alone has the potential to confuse because it is written with many variations in the annals of history. The Vikings TV series can be definitively referred to as entertaining pseudo-history that transposes the scantest of details and proposes them as historical fact for the pure purpose of enhancing viewer stats, and hopefully getting another commission for an ensuing series. That said, according to existing records, some of the incidents and characters that appeared in the show were indeed real as far as historians are concerned.

			While numerous protagonists have been called descendants of the legendary Ragnar Lothbrok, many who attempted to emulate the feats of the original Ragnar would have been referred to as a “Son of Ragnar.” This was an attributed title and often regarded as a mark of honor or aspiration as opposed to a statement of hereditary genetic fact.

			To fans of the TV show Vikings, the following names may sound familiar: Björn Ironside, Ivar the Boneless, Hvitserk, Ubba, and Sigurd Snake-in-the-Eye. It’s important to note that this was the darkest of the dark ages and verifiable sources confirming their existence are at best scarce, at worst pure speculation and conjecture, except in the cases of Björn, Ivar, and Hvitserk. According to some sources, Ragnar and Aslaug had a son named Hvitserk, and in other sources he is called Halfdan. Considering that these two names never appear in the same source, it’s relatively safe to assume they are probably the same person. All three are all genuine historical figures.

			The Vikings were very reliable when it came to attributing nicknames to their heroes such as “boneless,” “snake-in-the-eye.” And “ironside.” But there were some who didn’t appear in the series whose nicknames were not as complimentary, such as Ulf the Squint-Eyed, (who could simultaneously look at both ends of long ship), Eirik Ale-Lover (frequently horizontal), and Eystein Foul-Fart (best avoided after a good pillage). Needless to say, the protagonists rarely had any say in the nicknames they were accorded.

			The main problem in researching Ragnar is exacerbated by the fact that Vikings didn’t preserve written records of their history. Therefore most of what is acknowledged is derived from the Norse/Icelandic sagas (notably The Tale of Ragnar’s Sons), but other sources and historical accounts from conquered peoples corroborate the existence and activities of a certain Ivar the Boneless and his brethren.

			In the Viking sagas, Ivar the Boneless was a man capable of exceptional cruelty and stupefying ferocity in battle. During his lifetime, he ruled over an area that extended through parts of modern Denmark and Sweden. It was said that Ivar had only limp cartilage where bone should have been, but despite this handicap, he matured into a tall, muscular, handsome man. There is much disagreement as to the meaning of Ivar’s perplexing epithet “the Boneless.” It may have been a hereditary skeletal condition such as osteogenesis imperfecta (brittle bone disease) or an inability to walk upright—which begs the question, how did they refer to him as tall? But it has been suggested that boneless was a euphemism for impotence. It was said that he had “no love lust in him.”6 It may, however, simply have referred to physical flexibility. In his defense, he was also regarded as having been the most intelligent of Ragnar’s children.

			Ivar’s stature was such that he dwarfed all his contemporaries and in battle he led from the front in the little chariot so often depicted in the TV series. His arms were apparently so muscular that his bow was more powerful and his arrows heavier than any of those wielded by his fellow warriors. Nordic sources mention Ivar being carried on a shield by his army, which to some insinuates that he was lame; however, this is unlikely considering he was a renowned warrior. Other sources from the period mention chieftains being ceremonially borne on the shields of enemies following a victory. The main Latin source in which Ivar is written about at length is the Gesta Danorum (“Deeds of the Danes”), written in the early thirteenth century by Saxo Grammaticus, which surprisingly makes absolutely no mention of Ivar being boneless at all.

			The other brother of repute was Björn “Ironside” Ragnarsson, who is considered by many to be the founder and first king of the Munsö dynasty. This house ruled Sweden for many generations and is considered a protohistoric Scandinavian royal house that originated around the eighth or ninth centuries. The actual history of this dynasty isn’t verifiable until the tenth and eleventh centuries when historically verifiable figures emerge.

			Björn Ironside presumably reigned as king during the ninth century. His name, or rather nickname, was derived from the belief that he was rarely wounded in battle. In fact, it was thought that he was invulnerable to any wound. He grew up alongside his brothers and half-brothers and later ventured out of Sweden to conquer Zealand, Reidgotaland, Gotland, Öland, and all the minor islands. He then spent a considerable period of his life at Lejre in Zealand. One story tells how Björn and his brothers then left Zealand to avenge their half-brothers who had been killed in Sweden. Björn also conducted raids in France and the Mediterranean. According to historical accounts, after raiding the coasts of Spain, his assault force returned to pillage France and then ventured forth deep into the Mediterranean to assault the city of Pisa, Italy, which hadn’t considered the prospect of a leaning tower at that time.

			Progress was halted when they arrived at the city gates of Luna (Luni, as it’s now called, is located in present-day northern Italy), which they wrongly assumed to be Rome. Having difficulties breaching the walls of Luna, Björn had to think of a guileful way to gain entry to the city. He sent his men to inform the bishop of the city that before Björn had died, he had converted to Christianity; it was imperative that his body was interned on consecrated ground. The city allowed the casket containing his apparently lifeless form to be brought within the city walls by a small group of guards. It was placed before the altar inside the city’s church. Björn popped out of the box and fought his way to the city gates, which he then opened to allow his decidedly heathen army access. So by using his astuteness and intelligence, omitting his knowledge of geographical aspects, Björn managed to capture the city and consequently became one of the most famous Vikings in history. In the TV series, Ragnar Lothbrok used this very same deception to enter Paris.

			After Luna was taken, Björn and his mighty Viking fleet raided Sicily and the coast of North Africa. On their return journey, as they passed the Straits of Gibraltar, they encountered the seaborne forces of the Al-Andalus. At this juncture, they were attacked with Greek fire. The concoction known as “Greek fire” is often referenced in antiquity. It was made from such substances as pitch, naphtha, sulfur, and charcoal. This could be thrown in pots or discharged from tubes, whereupon it apparently caught fire spontaneously and could not be extinguished with water. This particular attack allegedly disposed of forty of Björn’s ships from his Viking fleet.

			It is nigh on impossible to know how much of Björn Ironside’s story is historic and how much is conjecture extracted from other Viking stories and attributed to him. There is sufficient proof to claim that there was someone called Björn Ironside that lived in the ninth century; however, it’s highly unlikely that Björn died in battle or at the hands of Ivar the Boneless. The precise cause of his death remains a mystery, but it is widely assumed he may have died of old age or possibly illness.

			A possible location could be the most prominent burial mound on the Swedish island of Munsö located in Lake Mälaren. It’s also known as Björnshögen and widely considered to be the last resting place of the legendary Viking Björn Ironside. That’s the assumption at least, but this has never really been definitively proven either. Christian monks recorded much of what is known of these myths and legends a few hundred years after the Viking age had elapsed. By then many of the Nordic gods had been forgotten or lost to posterity.

			The third son of Ragnar and Aslaug, whose story appears in various sources, was Hvitserk, or Halfdan. Halfdan appears both in Beowulf and in historical records. The name literally means “half Dane,” which could imply that he was of indeterminate parentage. The other name that this character is referred to is Hvitserk, which means “white shirt.” Halfdan joined his brothers in their campaign to avenge the death of their father. After the success of their army in the siege of York (Jorvik in the Viking language) and the victory against the Northumbrian pretender kings Osberht and Ælla, Halfdan was given the command over the city. This would be a temporary position.

			While his brothers Ivar, Björn, and Ubba led the great army farther southward, it was Halfdan’s task to strengthen their political position in the occupied territory and subject the inhabitants to Danelaw. Danelaw was used in the part of England controlled by the Danes and dominated the laws of the indigenous Anglo-Saxons. The term was first recorded in the early eleventh century as Dena lage. Although Halfdan might not have been as great of a warrior as his brothers, he had remarkable political and administrative skills.

			Son number four is Ubba, or Ubbe Ragnarsson, who is generally regarded as having been one of the other illegitimate sons of Ragnar. Ubba’s mother is said to have been a Swedish noblewoman who died giving birth to him. He was raised in his father’s court alongside his brothers. According to existing historical sources, Ubba was always in competition with his brothers Björn, Halfdan, and Sigurd but especially with their mother Aslaug, who resented Ubba because he was the son of her husband and another woman. Ubba may have been the most skilled and fierce warrior among Ragnar’s sons, but he was also irascible and impetuous, which (being a Viking) didn’t make him particularly unique. Most of them had anger management issues too.

			During a rebellion against Ragnar’s rule over Sweden, Ubba sided with his maternal grandfather Esbjörn. In a decisive battle between the armies of Ragnar and his sons on one side, and Ubba and his grandfather on the other side, Esbjörn was killed and Ubba was captured. After swearing an oath of loyalty to his father, Ubba was released from captivity, but this incident strained his relationship with his brothers, who never forgot Ubba’s treason.

			After the death of Ragnar, Ubba joined his brothers in their invasion of England to avenge their father. Ubba was a devout believer of the Norse gods who had no problem at all raiding monasteries and churches—which, according to the Christian population, made him the most feared of the Vikings. He advocated a total ban of Christianity within the occupied territories and had serious doubts about appointing Christian client kings to rule in the Viking-occupied territories. This inevitably led to further friction between him and his brothers. Ubba was killed in the battle of Cynwit in present day Devonshire, England, in 878 CE.

			Lastly, the story of Sigurd Snake-in-the-Eye. The name refers to a defect iris that was elongated as opposed to round, which apparently resembled a “snake-in-the-eye” or “serpent eye.” His name is also referred to as Sigurðr, Sigurthr, Siuardus, Siward, Siwardus, and Syuardus. The chronicles from Adam of Bremen, the Annals of Fulda, and the Gesta Danorum write about the fraternal relation between Sigurd and Halfdan. Saxo Grammaticus claims that Sigurd received his distinguishing optic trait in battle, as the result of a war wound.

			So to get a bit of background, it’s imperative to look at the accepted historical details of the era. One of the first recorded rape, loot, and pillage ventures by the Vikings occurred in the year 793 CE when Viking ships attacked and ravaged the monastery at Lindisfarne on the east coast of England. By 800 CE the Anglo-Saxons ruled kingdoms and territories in the British Midlands, the largest of which was Mercia (527–879 CE). For the purpose of clarification, Mercia was one of the Anglo-Saxons’ heptarchic kingdoms centered on the valley of the River Trent and its tributaries, in what is now the Midlands of England. Mercia was bordered to the south by the kingdom of Wessex, to the west by Wales, north by Northumbria, and to the east by East Anglia. Even though a powerful warlord ruled the kingdom, he didn’t provide sufficient protection against Viking raids. The warlord would “talk the talk” but would not necessarily “walk the walk,” unless it was in the opposite direction of the hairy marauders.

			Accompanied by his brothers Halfdan and Ubba, Ivar crossed the North Sea to England and led the invasion of East Anglia in 865 CE. There, he unfurled the Viking raven banner and terrified East Anglians to such an extent that they made peace with the invaders and even provided them with horses, albeit under duress.

			After the conquest of East Anglia in 866 CE, they used these horses to head for York, the capital of the Anglo-Saxon kingdom of Northumbria. The Vikings probably chose York as their prime target because at that time there was civil war in Northumbria, and they thought that this would make an invasion of the territory easier. It is difficult to get a clear understanding of the actual size of the attacking force, which is simply referred to by Anglo-Saxon chroniclers as the “Great Heathen Army.” Some say it was comprised of two—or perhaps three—thousand men, but others have suggested it may have numbered as few as three hundred. The army was sizeable enough to establish temporary settlements in the areas where they disembarked. On the whole, they got on extremely well with the indigenous Yorkshire folk and intermarried. This northern British/Viking heritage is still omnipresent in Yorkshire, particularly at weekends, and more specifically after flagons of ale have been consumed.

			Halfdan and Ivar the Boneless led the Viking army that attacked the York on November 1, 866 CE. It was All Saints Day, an important festival in the city’s calendar when many of the town’s leaders, along with Northumbrian kings Ælla and Osberht, would have been in the cathedral. The carefully planned surprise attack was successful, but the two kings were not taken prisoner.

			During Northumbria’s civil war, King Ælla of Northumbria had usurped the throne from King Osberht, who had ruled for the previous eighteen years; however, they agreed to put their differences aside and unite against their common enemy. It took a full four months for them to organize and join forces. The following year, sometime around March 21, 867 CE, the Anglo-Saxon army stormed York’s city walls and managed to break through the first line of defense. The Viking army, who had been spending the winter farther north on the banks of the River Tyne, then had the task of supporting the garrison in place and defending York against Ælla and Osberht’s joint forces. The Northumbrian Anglo-Saxon Chronicle recorded that there was “an excessive slaughter made of the Northumbrians.”

			Both Ælla and Osberht were taken prisoner and killed in revenge for the cruel execution of Ivar’s father, Ragnar Lothbrok, who was allegedly thrown into a snake pit on Ælla’s orders. York was now firmly held by the Vikings and would remain in their hands for the majority of the next eighty years.

			In apparent retribution for the death of Ragnar, Ælla was subjected to the unimaginably agonizing death often referred to in the Nordic sagas as “the blood eagle,” a horrific, ritualistic Viking method of torture and execution. The torture would begin by making an incision from the nape of the neck to the pelvis, detaching the ribs of the victim from the spine, breaking the ribs, and then extracting the lungs through the wound in the victim’s back so they resembled blood-stained wings. The victim would be kept alive throughout the ordeal whenever possible to add to the spectator’s enjoyment. Salt was then liberally sprinkled in the exposed flesh.

			This depiction of murder may have stemmed from a potential misinterpretation of a skaldic verse present in The Saga of Ragnar Lothbrok that mentions death by the mark of an eagle; however, this is a possible mistranslation that has prolonged one of the most widely accepted modern stereotypes concerning Vikings, who are frequently portrayed as bloodthirsty, murderous brutes. But this also distracts modern audiences from the importance of Vikings in their other role as peaceful settlers who built towns and villages and established lucrative trading routes across the known world.

			After the conquest of Northumbria in 866 CE and East Anglia in 869 CE, it is believed that the Great Heathen Army added to their numbers when the Viking “Summer Army,” under the command of King Bagsecg (also known as Bægsecg or Bagsec), arrived with reinforcements.

			In 870 CE, Halfdan led an invasion into Wessex and took the field on six occasions against the new king of Wessex, Alfred, who successfully resisted and repelled the attempted Viking incursion into his kingdom. Halfdan had no other option at the time than to accept a truce from King Alfred. Halfdan’s army then retreated to the Danish-occupied city of Lunden (London) and remained there during the winter of 871/872 CE.

			In 873 CE, they were compelled to return to York yet again because their puppet King Egbert and Wulfhere, the archbishop of York, had been driven out by a rebellion. Wulfhere had clearly reached some agreement with the Vikings and was regarded as their ally. The rebellion was mercilessly crushed and Wulfhere was restored to his cathedral, but Egbert had died and had to be replaced by another puppet ruler. The Vikings now felt that York was secure, which enabled them to safely spend the winter of 873/874 CE in Lincolnshire. In 874 CE, the Vikings conquered Mercia and divided it in two halves. According to the skaldic saga, Sigurd and Björn returned home after the capture of York. Sigurd didn’t return alone. He took King Ælla’s daughter, Blaeja, as his wife, and she gave him four children. After the death of his brother, Halfdan, Sigurd became the king of Denmark sometime around 877 CE. It’s generally assumed that he died in battle in 891 CE. After a series of campaigns against other kingdoms, part of the Great Heathen Army returned to Northumbria in 876 CE. According to the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle, Halfdan then became the first Viking king of Northumbria. He “shared out the lands of the Northumbrians and they proceeded to plow and to support themselves.”7

			The legendary Danish king Harthacanute (1018–1042 CE) may have been a grandson or a great-grandson of Sigurd, though neither claim is verifiable.

			Precisely where and how Ivar died isn’t entirely clear. Professor Martin Biddle of the University of Oxford and his wife Birthe claim that the skeletal remains of a nine-foot-tall Viking warrior, discovered during excavations at the churchyard of St. Wystan’s in Repton in southern Derbyshire, may be that of Ivar the Boneless. But this is pure speculation.

			Another prominent character from the TV series was the shield maiden Lagertha. Historically, there is no hard evidence that proves the existence of formally trained female warriors in ancient Scandinavian culture, but that didn’t deter Hollywood. Viking sagas make some references to powerful female warriors, but later assessments determined that shield maidens were nothing more than a symbolic incarnation of idealized womanhood, similar to the handmaidens of the god Odin, who were known as the Valkyries. Death in combat and access to Valhalla, the Viking version of heaven, feature prominently in these stories, but it’s safe to assume that these women warriors were nothing more than an aspect of Viking legends.

			The story of Lagertha is also referred to in the Gesta Danorum, which details how she met Ragnar and how he killed a bear and hound that guarded her home. She was so impressed with this feat that she married Ragnar, but there is no mention of any of the sons depicted in the TV series. According to the same reference, the happy couple had one son called Fridleif and two daughters, whose names are not recorded. There is, however, mention of their divorce and Ragnar’s request for help during a domestic civil war, whereupon Lagertha sent 120 ships to assist her ex—but maybe that was in the prenup.

			One of the primary sources for the stories of our beloved protagonists was, as previously mentioned, the Gesta Danorum by Saxo Grammaticus, but it should be pointed out that Saxo’s accounts do not faithfully reflect all the information contained in the Old Norse material that he draws from extensively. Saxo heavily modified and edited his source material, making it nigh on impossible to reconcile his narratives with the broader Old Norse framework. Once scholars accurately identified the sources and compared them to the material he recorded, it became glaringly obvious that Saxo had altered them dramatically to fit his personal narrative and indulge his own misogynistic, ideological requirements.

			Inspired by a profound affection for Old Norse legendary sagas, Saxo includes characters ad hoc from Germanic folklore into his narratives intermixed with a basic medieval Christian understanding of Classical culture. Therefore, these accounts cannot be considered reliable. Saxo was capable of being diplomatic with the truth. He rationalized his narratives from myth, and then added, subtracted, and amended as he saw fit. But does it matter?

			Incidentally, the place referred to as Kattegat in the series is a fictional Viking settlement. The Kattegat is actually the name of a sea region located between Sweden, Denmark, and Norway. There are several large cities and major ports in the shallow sea known as the Kattegat, including Gothenburg, Aarhus, Aalborg, Halmstad, and Frederikshavn.8

			Vikings is a highly entertaining TV series that deserves every accolade as long as it isn’t seen, or regarded as, an accurate historical account. But that shouldn’t prevent anyone from thoroughly enjoying the entertaining (and somewhat bloodthirsty) antics of Ragnar, his wives, and their sons.

			 

			My father was a born and bred Yorkshire man. They used to say, “Yorkshire born, Yorkshire bred, strong in the arm and thick in the head,” which isn’t entirely inaccurate, but there are exceptions. My Dad always said, “I’m descended from Vikings, which make you half a Viking.” Consequently, I was only allowed to wear one horn on my Woolworths play helmet. The first time I heard the name Ragnar was at the York Castle Museum, the first museum I ever visited when I was a mere ten years old. As I’ve mentioned earlier, the Viking name for York was Jorvik, and the Viking legacy is everywhere in the north. They had a magnificent display at the museum all about the northern Viking heritage. I was hooked and have been ever since. Ragnar lives!





CHAPTER THREE:

			THE LIONHEART AND THE LACKLAND.

			During their reign, the Plantagenet dynasty was the most affluent royal family in Europe, bar none. They ruled England for over 300 years, from 1154–1485, and held a significant portion of France. Their name derives from planta genista, which is Latin for “yellow broom flower.” This was also the emblem that the counts of Anjou wore on their helmets and shields. They were among one of the most murderous and treacherous collectives ever to hold sway. Stories of their evil, manipulative ways have long since been ingrained in history and captured the imaginations of both historians and readers alike. Two of the best-known kings from this motley crew were King Richard I, Coeur de Lion (lionheart), the brave one, and King John (nicknamed Lackland, because he didn’t own much territory outside England), who wasn’t all that brave.

			 

			[image: ]

			Richard made a name for himself as a renowned crusader, who always led from the front, but his affections for England were questionable to say the least.

			 

			[image: ]

			The Magna Carta granted by King John at Runnymede only remained in effect for a few short weeks. John grudgingly agreed to the document under duress from his barons. He even managed to get excommunicated by the Pope.

			In many Robin Hood movies and TV series, King Richard the Lionheart is often portrayed as the courageous warrior who returns from his crusade to the green and pleasant land to release his merry souls of England from the clutches of his wayward brother, the apparently evil King John. What’s even more astounding is how many people actually believe this; such is the all-persuasive power of contemporary media. So was it really just a case of good King Richard and bad King John?

			The truth of the matter is considerably more complex and deeper than TV and cinema’s errant portrayals of these two disaffected brothers from this highly dysfunctional family. It’s nothing short of remarkable that there is a proud statue of King Richard mounted on his steed and holding up his sword of justice outside the British bastion of democracy, the Houses of Parliament. The fact is that Richard probably didn’t speak a word of English and didn’t particularly care for his subjects, except for tax reasons. He much preferred being in France, where he would eventually meet his demise.

			Richard I was born on September 8, 1157, and became, among other things, king of England (from 1189–1199), duke of Aquitaine, count of Poitiers, duke of Normandy, lord of Cyprus, and count of Anjou. He was also the great grandson of Godfrey de Bouillon, the man whose successful first crusade led to him being crowned the first Christian king of Jerusalem. Godfrey staunchly objected to being called “King of Jerusalem” because in his fervently pious mind there was only ever one king, namely Jesus Christ.

			Richard and his brothers were not renowned for harboring profound respect for their father. When Richard was only seventeen years old, he conspired with his other brothers to organize what became an unsuccessful rebellion against Henry II. When Richard’s eldest brother, Henry the Young King, died in 1183, Henry II basically offered Richard Normandy and Anjou in exchange for the province of Aquitaine, which the king intended to give to his younger brother John. This suggestion didn’t go down all that well with Richard, who regarded the offer as a base insult, which in turn led to further dispute with Henry II.

			Henry II was the person who inadvertently gave the order to assassinate Thomas Becket of Canterbury, when he allegedly uttered the words, “Will no one rid me of this turbulent priest?” A couple of bored knights in proximity overheard and replied something to the effect of, “Leave it with us boss, we’re on it.”

			As the relationship between Richard and his father deteriorated, Richard defected to the Capetians (a dynasty of Frankish origin often referred to as the House of France), and with the support of Philip Augustus, he drove Henry II out of Le Mans and to an early death. Richard became King Richard I and received the entirety of his father’s lands owned in the Angevin, or Plantagenet, empire. The unusually close relationship between Richard and Philip Augustus raises some questions regarding Richard’s sexuality. Was Richard the Lionheart gay and would Sean Connery have portrayed him if he had known?

			Roger of Hoveden, a renowned court chronicler of the day, was in a position to gather the facts as he interpreted them during those tumultuous years from 1192–1201. Roger had previously reported in 1187 that Richard and King Philip of shared a bed,9 but it was common for people of the same sex to do this at that time. It was generally seen as an expression of trust and not intended for the purpose of sexual gratification. In medieval times, it was common practice for men to kiss or hold hands, which was usually construed as political gestures of friendship or peace.

			So it’s probably wrong to assume that an act that had symbolic significance 800 years ago has the same implications by contemporary standards. It should be pointed out, though, that no such aspersions were cast against Philip Augustus. Roger further states that, “Richard and Philip ate from the same dish, at night slept in one bed and had a strong love between them.”10 Truth be known, Roger wasn’t a great fan of Richard the Lionheart, and his writing can be interpreted in a number of ways depending on one’s perspective.

			Richard’s future wife, Berengaria of Navarre, was brought to his court in March 1191, which was, at that time, located at Messina, Sicily. It wasn’t Richard’s first venture into the realm of intended nuptials. Richard’s father arranged for his nine-year-old son to be betrothed to French King Louis VII’s daughter Princess Alais, who was also nine years old. But the wedding never happened, probably because piñatas and goody bags hadn’t been invented.

			Berengaria accompanied Richard on his journey east when he embarked on his legendary crusade, possibly in an attempt to emulate his illustrious great-grandfather Godfrey de Bouillon. It is, however, a fact that he didn’t provide his wife Berengaria with any children, but that could have been due to his frequent absence. On the other hand, Richard’s failure to provide offspring from his union could be interpreted by some as further proof of his inclinations. But these assumptions are precisely what occur when one applies twenty-first century perceptions to medieval ideologies. During his reign, Richard physically spent less than two years in the British Isles. But over his lifetime, while on his notorious wanderings, he did manage to father two illegitimate children. There is no conclusive proof that this steel-jawed warrior was anything but precisely that.
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